# Γ-EXTENSIONS OF THE SPECTRUM OF AN ORBIFOLD

## CARLA FARSI, EMILY PROCTOR, AND CHRISTOPHER SEATON

ABSTRACT. We introduce the  $\Gamma$ -extension of the spectrum of the Laplacian of a Riemannian orbifold, where  $\Gamma$  is a finitely generated discrete group. This extension, called the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum, is the union of the Laplace spectra of the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of the orbifold, and hence constitutes a Riemannian invariant that is directly related to the singular set of the orbifold. We compare the  $\Gamma$ spectra of known examples of isospectral pairs and families of orbifolds and demonstrate that in many cases, isospectral orbifolds need not be  $\Gamma$ -isospectral. We additionally prove a version of Sunada's theorem that allows us to construct pairs of orbifolds that are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for any choice of  $\Gamma$ .

## Contents

1. Introduction	1
Acknowledgements	3
2. Background and definitions	3
2.1. $\Gamma$ -Sectors of an orbifold	4
2.2. $\Gamma$ -Spectrum of an orbifold	7
2.3. Elementary $\Gamma$ -spectral invariants	8
3. Isospectral, nonisometic orbifolds and their $\Gamma$ -spectra	10
3.1. Examples of Shams-Stanhope-Webb	10
3.2. Homogeneous space examples of Rossetti-Schueth-Weilandt	11
3.3. Flat space examples of Rossetti-Schueth-Weilandt	15
3.4. Lens space examples of Shams	17
4. The Sunada method and $\Gamma$ -isospectrality	17
References	23

## 1. INTRODUCTION

A central question of spectral geometry concerns the extent to which the Laplace spectrum of an orbifold influences its geometry and topology, and vice versa. For example, if two orbifolds have the same spectrum, they must have the same volume and dimension [13]. On the other hand, there are many examples of isospectal, nonisometric orbifolds. Most of the early examples of isospectral orbifolds were manifolds [23, 37, 19, 33, 17, 29]. More recently, however, attention has turned to the study of the spectrum of orbifolds having nontrivial singular sets and the interplay between the spectrum and the singular set. In 2006, Shams, Stanhope, and Webb produced arbitrarily large finite families of isospectral orbifolds [31]. Any pair

<sup>1991</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 58J53; 57R18; Secondary 53C20.

Key words and phrases. Orbifold, isospectral, twisted sector, spectral geometry.

of orbifolds in a given family contains points with nonisomorphic isotropy groups, but all orbifolds in the family have maximal isotropy groups of the same order. Rossetti, Schueth, and Weilandt have since produced examples of pairs isospectral orbifolds having different maximal isotropy order [28]. Working independently, both Sutton, and the second author working with Stanhope, found examples of continuous families of isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds [34, 26]. More recently, Shams produced examples of pairs of isospectral, nonisometric orbifold lens spaces [30]. In the positive direction, Dryden, Gordon, Greenwald, and Webb constructed the asymptotic expansion for the heat trace of a general compact Riemannian orbifold in such a way that the contribution of each piece of the singular set to the heat invariants is evident [9]. They used their results to show that the spectrum can distinguish orbifolds within certain classes of two-dimensional orbifolds. Dryden and Strohmaier showed that for a compact orientable hyperbolic orbisurface, the numbers and types of singular points as well as the length spectrum of the orbifold are completely determined by the Laplace spectrum [10]. This was shown independently by Doyle and Rossetti, who in [8] also proved an extension to the case of compact hyperbolic orbisurfaces that are not necessarily connected or orientable. In [25], the second author proved that any isospectral collection of orbifolds with sectional curvature uniformly bounded below and having only isolated singular points contains only finitely many orbifold category homeomorphism types.

In this paper, we address the question of the relationship between the spectrum of an orbifold O and its singular set by introducing the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of O. The  $\Gamma$ -spectrum is the  $\Gamma$ -extension of the spectrum of the Laplacian in the sense of [36], meaning that it is an application of the spectrum to the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O. Originally introduced in [35] for global quotients and [15] for general orbifolds, the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O consist of a disjoint union of orbifolds of varying dimensions including a copy of O as well as other components that finitely cover the singular set of O. Special cases include the *inertia orbifold* when  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$  and the *multisectors* when  $\Gamma$  is a free group; see e.g. [1]. The orbifold of  $\Gamma$ -sectors can be thought of an "unraveling" of the singular set of O into distinct orbifolds, where the group  $\Gamma$  determines the type of singularities that are unraveled. In this sense, the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum includes the ordinary spectrum of O as well as, approximately speaking, the spectra of various components of the singular locus of O. The technique of extending an orbifold invariant by considering its  $\Gamma$ -extension has been studied in the case of Euler characteristics and related orbifold invariants; here, we apply this technique to the case of an invariant of a Riemannian orbifold, the spectrum of the Laplacian.

The definition of an orbifold varies considerably from author to author and discipline to discipline, based on the features of the orbifold structure that are under consideration. In particular, in Riemannian geometry, orbifolds are usually assumed to be effective, and hence can be presented as quotient orbifolds; see Section 2. Considering the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of a noneffective orbifold leads to trivial examples that are contrary to the spirit of the investigation presented here; see Section 2.2 and in particular Examples 2.7 and 2.8. Hence, we consider the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum to be most interesting when applied to an effective Riemannian orbifold. For this reason, though we do explain the (direct) generalizations of the definitions presented here to general orbifolds presented by groupoids, we otherwise restrict our attention to quotient orbifolds. Note that the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of a nontrivial orbifold O may include noneffective orbifolds even when O is assumed effective, and thus our discussion requires the consideration of noneffective orbifolds. If O is a quotient orbifold, however, the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O are quotient orbifolds as well, even when they are not effective.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we recall the relevant definitions and fix notation. The  $\Gamma$ -sectors are defined in Section 2.1, and the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum is defined in Section 2.2. In Section 2.3, we discuss some immediate consequences of the definition of the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum. Section 3 contains a description of the  $\Gamma$ sectors of several collections of known isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds in order to determine whether they are also  $\Gamma$ -isospectral. In Section 4, we prove a Sunadatype theorem for  $\Gamma$ -isospectrality and exhibit examples of nonisometric orbifolds that are nontrivially  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for different choices of  $\Gamma$ .

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the referee for detailed corrections and helpful suggestions. The first author would like to thank the University of Florence for hospitality during the completion of this manuscript. The third author was partially funded by a Rhodes College Faculty Development Endowment Grant.

#### 2. Background and definitions

Let O be an n-dimensional orbifold. We will be primarily interested in the case that O can be presented as a quotient orbifold, i.e. O is given by  $G \setminus M$  with orbifold structure given by the translation groupoid  $G \ltimes M$  where M is a smooth manifold and G is a compact Lie group acting with finite isotropy groups (on the left) on M. If G is finite, then we say O is a global quotient orbifold. More generally, an orbifold is defined by a Morita equivalence class of a proper étale Lie groupoid: see [1, Definition 1.48] and the following paragraph. A proper étale Lie groupoid can be thought of as an atlas for the orbifold it represents, and the orbifold is given by the orbit space of the groupoid under the action of its arrows. In either case, Oconsists of a second countable Hausdorff space  $X_O$ , the underlying space of O, that is covered by *orbifold charts* of the form  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$  where  $V_x$  is diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $G_x$  is a finite group acting linearly on  $V_x$ , and  $\pi_x \colon V_x \to \mathbb{X}_O$  induces a homeomorphism of  $G_x \setminus V_x$  onto an open subset of  $\mathbb{X}_O$ . If O is effective, i.e. for each orbifold chart  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$  the group  $G_x$  acts effectively on  $V_x$ , then it is well known that O can be presented as a quotient orbifold using the *frame bundle construction*, and that G can be taken to be O(n); see [1, Theorem 1.23]. It has been conjectured that all orbifolds can be presented as quotient orbifolds; see [1, p. 27].

Equivalence of orbifolds is subtle and most easily described in terms of Morita equivalence of groupoid presentations. Two groupoids  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{G}'$  are Morita equivalent if there is a groupoid  $\mathcal{H}$  and a chain of groupoid equivalences  $\mathcal{G} \leftarrow \mathcal{H} \rightarrow \mathcal{G}'$ . (See [1, Definition 1.42] for the definition of groupoid equivalence.) Each groupoid equivalence induces a homeomorphism between underlying spaces of the orbifolds that the groupoids represent, preserving the isomorphism class of the isotropy group of each point in the orbifold. By identifying the underlying spaces via these homeomorphisms, one may think of  $\mathcal{H}$  as an orbifold atlas that refines the orbifold atlases corresponding to  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{G}'$ . Note in particular that for two groupoids  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{G}'$  to be Morita equivalent, there need not be a map directly from  $\mathcal{G}$  to  $\mathcal{G}'$ . Intuitively, this corresponds to the fact that the atlas corresponding to  $\mathcal{G}$  might not be fine enough to locally define a map.

If O and O' are quotient orbifolds represented by  $G \ltimes M$  and  $H \ltimes N$  respectively, then an equivariant map from O to O' consists of a homomorphism  $\varphi : G \to H$ and a smooth map  $f : M \to N$  such that  $f(gx) = \varphi(g)f(x)$  for all  $g \in G$  and  $x \in M$ . It has been shown that if we restrict our attention to the category of smooth translation groupoids  $G \ltimes M$  and equivariant maps, then Morita equivalence is still a well-defined equivalence relation on this category [27]. Thus when we restrict our attention to orbifolds that can be represented as quotients, we need only concern ourselves with equivariant groupoid equivalences, and with Morita equivalences via smooth translation groupoids. Hence we define a diffeomorphism between quotient orbifolds to be an equivariant groupoid equivalence. We note that by Proposition 3.5 in [27], every diffeomorphism between quotient orbifolds is given as a composition of quotient and inductive groupoid equivalences. We say that two quotient orbifolds O and O' represented by  $G \ltimes M$  and  $H \ltimes N$  respectively are diffeomorphic if they can be connected by a Morita equivalence

$$G \ltimes M \xleftarrow{(\varphi, f)} K \ltimes Z \xrightarrow{(\omega, h)} H \ltimes N$$

where  $(\varphi, f)$  and  $(\omega, h)$  are equivariant groupoid equivalences.

Classically, a Riemannian metric on an orbifold O has been defined via charts. For each chart  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$ , let  $g_x$  be a  $G_x$ -invariant Riemannian metric on  $V_x$ . Patching the charts together via a partition of unity gives a *Riemannian structure* on O. If O is presented as a quotient  $G \ltimes M$  for G a compact Lie group, then any G-invariant metric on M induces a metric on the orbifold O, and any metric on Ois induced by such a metric; see [32, Proposition 2.1]. In particular, given a point  $x \in M$ , a slice  $W_x$  at x for the G-action on M induces a local chart  $\{W_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$ for the orbifold O at Gx; see [12, Definition 2.3.1]. The G-invariant metric on Mrestricts to a  $G_x$ -invariant metric on  $W_x$ . Note that distinct G-invariant metrics on M may correspond to the same metric on O.

When studying the Riemannian geometry of orbifolds, it is common and natural to restrict to the consideration of effective orbifolds. Indeed, the Riemannian structure of a non-effective orbifold O is identical to that of its *effectivisation*  $O_{eff}$ ; see [1, Definition 2.33], except for a minor change to integration on the orbifold, see Section 2.3. If O is a noneffective orbifold with quotient presentation  $G \ltimes M$  and K is the (necessarily normal) subgroup of G that acts trivially on M, then  $O_{eff}$  is the effective orbifold presented by  $G/K \ltimes M$ , and it is clear that the Riemiannian structures of O and  $O_{eff}$  coincide. However, when considering the  $\Gamma$ -sectors and  $\Gamma$ -spectrum, we will see that a noneffective group action may arise in the  $\Gamma$ -sectors, even in the case that O is effective. For this reason, we make the following.

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $O = (G \ltimes M, g)$  and  $O' = (H \ltimes N, g')$  be Riemannian quotient orbifolds. Let  $\bar{g}$  and  $\bar{g}'$  be corresponding invariant metrics on M and N respectively. An *isometry* from O to O' is an equivariant groupoid equivalence  $(\varphi, f) : G \ltimes M \to$  $H \ltimes N$  such that  $f^*\bar{g}' = \bar{g}$ . We say that O and O' are *isometric* if they can be connected by a chain of isometries  $G \ltimes M \xleftarrow{(\varphi, f)} K \ltimes Z \xrightarrow{(\omega, h)} H \ltimes N$ . If  $O_{eff}$  and  $O'_{eff}$  are isometric, we say that O and O' are *effectively isometric*.

For instance, any Riemannian manifold M may be equipped with the trivial action of a finite group G resulting in the noneffective orbifold O presented by  $G \ltimes M$ . The orbifolds M and O are identical in every sense that is significant to Riemannian geometry, and hence are effectively isometric. However, because the isotropy group of each point in an orbifold is invariant under diffeomorphism, they are not isometric as orbifolds.

Every point in a connected, noneffective orbifold O has nontrivial isotropy and hence is singular. We refer to points that correspond to nonsingular points in the associated effective orbifold  $O_{eff}$  as *effectively nonsingular* and points that correspond to singular points in the associated effective orbifold as *effectively singular*. An orbifold given by a smooth manifold equipped with the trivial action of a finite group will be referred to as *effectively smooth*.

2.1.  $\Gamma$ -Sectors of an orbifold. We recall the following.

**Definition 2.2** ([14]). Let  $\Gamma$  be a finitely generated discrete group and let O be presented as a quotient orbifold  $G \ltimes M$  as above. Let  $(\varphi)$  denote the *G*-conjugacy class of a homomorphism  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G$ . The *orbifold of*  $\Gamma$ -*sectors*  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  of O is the disjoint union of orbifolds presented by

$$\bigsqcup_{\varphi) \in \mathrm{HOM}(\Gamma,G)/G} C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$$

where  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  denotes the collection of points fixed by each element of the image of  $\varphi$  in G and  $C_G(\varphi)$  denotes the centralizer of the image of  $\varphi$ . For a given  $\varphi \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G)$ , we refer to each connected component of the orbifold presented by  $C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  as a  $\Gamma$ -sector of O. We let  $m_{(\varphi)}$  denote the number of connected components of  $C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  and let  $\widetilde{O}^i_{(\varphi)}$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, m_{(\varphi)}$  denote the corresponding connected orbifolds. If  $C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  is connected, we denote the corresponding sector simply  $\widetilde{O}_{(\varphi)}$ . The sector corresponding to the trivial homomorphism  $\Gamma \to G$ is diffeomorphic to O and is referred to as the *nontwisted sector* (or *nontwisted sectors* if O is not connected); other sectors are referred to as twisted sectors.

If  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$ , since any homomorphism is completely determined by its value on a generator of  $\mathbb{Z}$ , there is a bijective correspondence between  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, G)/G$  and the conjugacy classes of G. In this case, in order to simplify notation, we identify the conjugacy class of a homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z} \to G$  with the conjugacy class of the image of a fixed generator of  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Similarly,  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}, G)/G$  corresponds to the orbits of commuting  $\ell$ -tuples  $(g_1, \ldots, g_{\ell}) \in G^{\ell}$  under the action of G by simultaneous conjugation, while  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{F}_{\ell}, G)/G$ , where  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$  denotes the free group with  $\ell$ generators, corresponds to the orbits of (not necessarily commuting)  $\ell$ -tuples under simultaneous conjugation.

It is easy to see that each  $C_G(\varphi)$  acts with finite isotropy groups on  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  so that  $C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  does indeed present an orbifold. If  $\psi = h\varphi h^{-1}$  for some  $h \in G$ , then left-translation by h induces a diffeomorphism between  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  and  $M^{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , and conjugation by h intertwines the respective actions of  $C_G(\varphi)$  and  $C_G(\psi)$ , so that the orbifold  $C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  does not depend on the choice of representative  $\varphi$  of  $(\varphi)$ . Note that  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  is empty unless the image of  $\varphi$  is contained in the isotropy group of at least one point  $x \in M$ . One implication is that if O is a smooth manifold with no group action, then  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma} = O$  for each  $\Gamma$ . More generally, if  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$  or  $\Gamma = \mathbb{F}_{\ell}$  for  $\ell \geq 1$ , then  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma} = O$  if and only if O is a manifold.

Suppose O is a noneffective orbifold presented by  $G \ltimes M$  so that  $O_{eff}$  is presented by  $G/K \ltimes M$  where K is the finite, normal subgroup of G acting trivially. Let  $\rho: G \to G/K$  denote the quotient homomorphism. Then for each  $\Gamma$ , there is a surjective map from  $\operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G)/G$  to  $\operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G/K)/(G/K)$  given by sending  $\varphi \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G)$  to  $\rho \circ \varphi \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G/K)$ . It is easy to see that if  $\varphi \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G)$ , then  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle} = M^{\langle \rho \circ \varphi \rangle}$ ; however the actions of  $C_{G/K}(\rho \circ \varphi)$  on  $M^{\langle \rho \circ \varphi \rangle}$  and  $C_G(\varphi)$  on  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  may differ. Moreover, there are generally more  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O than  $O_{eff}$ . In particular, if O is a connected n-dimensional orbifold, only the nontwisted sector of  $O_{eff}$  is n-dimensional, while each sector of O corresponding to a  $\varphi \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, K)$  is n-dimensional.

**Example 2.3.** Let  $\mathbb{S}^2$  denote the standard unit sphere, and let  $D_6 = \langle a, b : a^3 = b^2 = (ab)^2 = 1 \rangle$  denote the dihedral group of order 6. Define a  $D_6$ -action on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  where ax = x for each  $x \in \mathbb{S}^2$ , and b acts as a rotation through  $\pi$  about a fixed axis. Then  $D_6 \ltimes \mathbb{S}^2$  presents a noneffective orbifold O with  $K = \langle a \rangle$  acting trivially. The effectivization  $O_{eff}$  is presented by  $\langle b \rangle \ltimes \mathbb{S}^2$ . The  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $O_{eff}$  consist of  $\widetilde{(O_{eff})}_{(1)}$ , isometric to  $O_{eff}$ , and  $\widetilde{(O_{eff})}_{(b)}$ , a pair of points with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action. However, the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of O consist of  $\widetilde{O}_{(1)}$ , isometric to O,  $\widetilde{O}_{(b)}$ , a pair of points with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action.

More generally, if O is presented by a Lie groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$ , then the orbifold of  $\Gamma$ -sectors  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  can be constructed as follows. Let  $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{\mathcal{G}}$  denote the collection of groupoid homomorphisms  $\operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, \mathcal{G})$  treating  $\Gamma$  as a groupoid with a single object. Then  $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{\mathcal{G}}$  inherits from  $\mathcal{G}$  the structure of a union of smooth manifolds (with connected components of different dimensions) as well as a natural  $\mathcal{G}$ -action. We let  $\mathcal{G}^{\Gamma}$  denote the translation groupoid of  $\mathcal{G} \ltimes \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{\mathcal{G}}$ , and then  $\mathcal{G}^{\Gamma}$  is a presentation of  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$ . See [15] for the details of this construction. Note that if  $\mathcal{G} = G \ltimes M$  is a translation groupoid, then a groupoid homomorphism  $\varphi_x \colon \Gamma \to \mathcal{G}$  corresponds to a choice of  $x \in M$  and a group homomorphism  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G_x \leq G$ . In particular, the  $\Gamma$ -sector associated to  $\varphi_x$  using the groupoid definition is a connected orbifold; it corresponds to the connected component of  $\widetilde{O}_{(\varphi)}$  containing the orbit of x. If  $x \in M$  with isotropy group  $G_x$  and  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G_x \leq G$  is a homomorphism with image contained in  $G_x$ , then a linear orbifold chart  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$  for O at the orbit Gx induces a linear orbifold chart  $\{V_x^{(\varphi)}, C_{G_x}(\varphi), \pi_x^{\varphi}\}$  for  $\widetilde{O}_{(\varphi)}$  at the point  $C_G(\varphi)x$ .

**Proposition 2.4** ([14] and [15]). Let  $\Gamma$  be a finitely generated discrete group. A diffeomorphism of orbifolds  $O \to O'$  induces a diffeomorphism  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma} \to \widetilde{O'}_{\Gamma}$  for each finitely generated group  $\Gamma$ . If O is compact, then  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  is compact, and in particular consists of a finite number of connected components.

Hence,  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  does not depend on the presentation of O. The construction of  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  can be though of as an "unraveling" of the singular strata of O into disjoint orbifolds. The choice of  $\Gamma$  corresponds roughly with the depth and type of singular strata that are unraveled. For instance, if  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$ , then  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  is the inertia orbifold, consisting of orbifolds that arise as fixed-point subsets of cyclic groups in O. If  $\Gamma = \mathbb{F}_{\ell}$  is the free group with  $\ell$  generators, then  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  corresponds to the  $\ell$ -multisectors; see [1]. Note that the natural projection  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma} \to O$  induced by the inclusion of each  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle} \to M$ is not usually injective, even when restricted to a single sector.

Given a metric g on O, a local chart  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$ , and a homomorphism  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G_x$ , the metric  $g_x$  on  $V_x$  restricts to a  $C_{G_x}(\varphi_x)$ -invariant metric on  $V_x^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$ , inducing a metric on the associated  $\Gamma$ -sector. If O is presented by  $G \ltimes M$ , a choice of corresponding G-invariant metric on the smooth manifold M restricts to each  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  as a

 $C_G(\varphi)$ -invariant metric, inducing an orbifold metric on each  $\Gamma$ -sector as a quotient orbifold. Using the slice theorem (see e.g. [12, Theorem 2.3.3]), it is easy to see that the restriction of the  $C_G(\varphi)$ -invariant metric on  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  to a chart  $V_x^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  coincides with the restriction of the local metric  $g_x$  to  $V_x^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  so that the metric induced on  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$  depends only on the metric g and not on the presentation of O. Similarly, given an isometry  $O \to O'$  between quotient orbifolds, the induced diffeomorphism  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma} \to \widetilde{O'}_{\Gamma}$  preserves the corresponding local metrics and hence is itself an isometry of the corresponding  $\Gamma$ -sectors.

2.2.  $\Gamma$ -Spectrum of an orbifold. For a Riemannian orbifold O, we say that a function is smooth if at every point it can be lifted to a smooth function on a local manifold cover above the point; equivalently, a smooth function is an invariant smooth function on a presentation of O. We denote the space of all smooth functions on O by  $C^{\infty}(O)$ . Since the Laplacian  $\Delta$  acting on smooth function on a manifold commutes with isometries, there is a well-defined action of the Laplacian on  $C^{\infty}(O)$ , computed by taking the Laplacian of lifts of smooth functions to local manifold covers. For any compact, connected Riemannian orbifold O, the eigenvalue spectrum of the Laplacian, denoted Spec(O) is a discrete sequence  $0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots \uparrow \infty$ , with each eigenvalue appearing with finite multiplicity; see [4], [9]. We say that two orbifolds are *isospectral* if they have the same Laplace spectrum.

Let  $\Gamma$  be a finitely generated discrete group and let O be a compact orbifold presented by  $G \ltimes M$  where G is a compact Lie group. Then

$$C^{\infty}(\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}) = \bigoplus_{(\varphi) \in \mathrm{HOM}(\Gamma,G)/G} \bigoplus_{i=1}^{m_{(\varphi)}} C^{\infty}(\widetilde{O}^{i}_{(\varphi)}).$$

We let  $\Delta^i_{(\varphi)}$  denote the corresponding Laplace operator for each  $\Gamma$ -sector  $\widetilde{O}^i_{(\varphi)}$  and set

$$\Delta_{\Gamma} = \bigoplus_{(\varphi) \in \text{HOM}(\Gamma, G)/G} \bigoplus_{i=1}^{in(\varphi)} \Delta^{i}_{(\varphi)}$$

so that  $\Delta_{\Gamma} \colon C^{\infty}(\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}) \to C^{\infty}(\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}).$ 

**Definition 2.5.** Let O be a compact Riemannian orbifold and  $\Gamma$  a finitely generated discrete group. The  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of O is the spectrum of  $\Delta_{\Gamma}$  acting on  $C^{\infty}(\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma})$ . In other words

$$\operatorname{Spec}_{\Gamma}(O) = \bigcup_{(\varphi) \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G)/G} \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_{(\varphi)}} \operatorname{Spec}(\widetilde{O}_{(\varphi)}^{i}).$$

Two compact Riemannian orbifolds O and O' are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral if  $\operatorname{Spec}_{\Gamma}(O) = \operatorname{Spec}_{\Gamma}(O')$ .

**Remark 2.6.** If O is not presented by the quotient of a manifold M by a group G, then the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of O can be defined identically by applying Spec to the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O defined using a groupoid presentation of O. By Proposition 2.4, this definition coincides with that given in Definition 2.5 when O admits a presentation as a quotient.

Hence, the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of O is the usual spectrum of the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O. If O is a connected Riemannian manifold, then the only  $\Gamma$ -sector of O is the nontwisted sector isometric to O so the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum coincides with the usual notion of the Laplace spectrum. Similarly, if  $\Gamma$  is the trivial group, then  $\operatorname{Spec}_{\Gamma}(O) = \operatorname{Spec}(O)$ . Note that the multiplicity of 0 in the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of O corresponds to the number of  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O.

The usual Laplace spectrum of an orbifold O coincides with the Laplace spectrum of the associated effective orbifold  $O_{eff}$ . This is not the case for the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum, as there are generally more  $\Gamma$ -sectors of O than  $O_{eff}$ ; see Section 2.1 and in particular Example 2.3. In addition, we consider the following.

**Example 2.7.** Let M be any connected Riemannian manifold, and let O be presented by  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes M$  where the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action is trivial. Then  $\widetilde{M}_{\Gamma} \cong M$  for any  $\Gamma$ , while  $\widetilde{O}_{\mathbb{Z}} \cong O \sqcup O$ . It follows that  $\operatorname{Spec}_{\mathbb{Z}}(M) = \operatorname{Spec}(M)$  while for  $\operatorname{Spec}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O)$ , the multiplicity of each eigenvalue from  $\operatorname{Spec}(M)$  is doubled. Hence, M and O are isospectral and effectively isometric, though they are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral.

More generally, if a connected orbifold O is presented by  $G \ltimes M$  for any finite group G acting trivially, then the number of connected components of  $\widetilde{O}_{\mathbb{Z}}$  coincides with the number of conjugacy classes in G. Each connected component of  $\widetilde{O}_{\mathbb{Z}}$  is effectively isometric to O, though the group acting trivially may vary so that they need not be diffeomorphic.

**Example 2.8.** Let M be any Riemannian manifold, let  $O_1$  denote the quotient of M by a trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_3$ -action, and let  $O_2$  denote the quotient of M by a trivial  $D_6$ -action where  $D_6 = \langle a, b \mid a^3 = b^2 = (ab)^2 = 1 \rangle$  is the dihedral group with 6 elements. Then  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are isospectral and effectively isometric. Moreover,  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{Z}}$  is isometric to  $O_1 \sqcup O_1 \sqcup O_1$ , and since  $D_6$  has 3 conjugacy classes (1), (a), and (b),  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{Z}} \cong D_6 \ltimes M \sqcup \mathbb{Z}_3 \ltimes M \sqcup \mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes M$  with each group action trivial. Therefore,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are also  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral. However, by counting the conjugacy classes of homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{Z}_3$  and  $\mathbb{Z}^2 \to D_6$ , it is easy to see that  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{Z}^2}$  has 9 identical connected components while  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{Z}^2}$  has 8 connected components, so that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -isospectral. Similarly,  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{F}_2}$  has 9 connected components while  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{F}_2}$  has 12, so that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{F}_2$ -isospectral.

The above examples illustrate that consideration of noneffective orbifolds yields trivial examples of orbifolds that, for instance, are isospectral but not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral or are isospectral and  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral, but not  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -isospectral. In addition, consider the following.

**Example 2.9.** Let  $O_1 = G_1 \ltimes M_1$  and  $O_2 = G_2 \ltimes M_2$  be any pair of effective isospectral, non-isometric orbifolds (see examples in Section 3), and let p be a prime that does not divide the order of the isotropy group of any point in  $O_1$  or  $O_2$ . Then since every homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}_p \to G_i$ , i = 1, 2 either has empty fixed point set or is trivial, it is easy to see that  $(O_1)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} = O_1$  and  $(O_2)_{\mathbb{Z}_p} = O_2$ . Therefore,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are also  $\mathbb{Z}_p$ -isospectral.

Hence, many questions about the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum of a general orbifold have trivial answers that involve algebraic trickery using trivial group actions or a choice of  $\Gamma$ that leads to no nontwisted sectors. We consider the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum to be of most interest when applied to effective Riemannian orbifolds and choices of  $\Gamma$  that yield nontrivial sectors.

2.3. Elementary  $\Gamma$ -spectral invariants. Let O be a compact, connected, effective Riemannian orbifold presented as a quotient orbifold by  $G \ltimes M$ , and let  $0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots \uparrow \infty$  denote the spectrum of O. The *heat trace* of O is defined to be  $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_j t}$ ; see [9] and [7]. By [9, Theorem 4.8], the heat trace as  $t \to 0^+$  admits an asymptotic expansion of the form

(2.1) 
$$(4\pi t)^{-\dim(O)/2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_j t^{j/2}$$

where  $c_0 = \operatorname{vol}(O)$  is the Riemannian volume of O. In particular, the volume and dimension of O are determined by the spectrum; see also [13, Theorem 3.2]. It will be useful for us to recall that the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace in Equation 2.1 can also be expressed as follows. Let S(O) denote the strata of the singular set of O with respect to its Whitney stratification by orbit types. Then the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace can be decomposed into the contributions of the strata as

(2.2) 
$$(4\pi t)^{-\dim(O)/2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k t^k + \sum_{N \in \mathcal{S}(O)} (4\pi t)^{-\dim(N)/2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_{k,N} t^k$$

where the  $a_k$  are the usual heat invariants as in the case of manifolds, and  $b_{0,S} \neq 0$  for each S. See [7], [18, Lemma 3.3], and [9, Definition 4.7 and Theorem 4.8].

In the case that O is not effective, the heat trace of O coincides with that of  $O_{eff}$  since  $\operatorname{Spec}(O) = \operatorname{Spec}(O_{eff})$ . However, if K denotes the isotropy group of an effectively nonsingular point, then  $\operatorname{vol}(O) = \operatorname{vol}(O_{eff})/|K|$ . To see this, note that if  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$  is an orbifold chart, a differential form  $\omega$  on  $\pi_x(V_x) \subseteq O$  can be defined locally as a  $G_x$ -invariant differential form on  $V_x$ , and the integral of  $\omega$  on  $\pi_x(V_x)$  is defined to be

$$\int\limits_{\pi_x(V_x)} \omega := \frac{1}{|G_x|} \int\limits_{V_x} \pi_x^* \omega,$$

see [1, p. 34]. If  $p = \pi_x(x)$  is an effectively nonsingular point in O, then  $G_x \cong K$ . For an arbitrary point, if  $G_x^{eff}$  denotes the isotropy group of the point corresponding to  $\pi_x(x)$  in  $O_{eff}$ , then  $|G_x^{eff}| = |G_x|/|K|$  so that this integral differs from the integral of the corresponding  $\omega$  on  $O_{eff}$  by a factor of |K|. Hence, if O is not effective, then the volume can be determined from the spectrum along with the order of the group K acting trivially, but cannot be determined from the spectrum alone.

For a finitely generated discrete group  $\Gamma$ , the  $\Gamma$ -heat trace of O is defined to be the heat trace of  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$ . It is evidently given by the sum of the heat traces of the sectors of  $\widetilde{O}_{\Gamma}$ . Specifically, for each conjugacy class  $(\varphi) \in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma, G)/G$  and each  $i = 1, \ldots, m_{(\varphi)}$ , let  $0 = \lambda_0((\varphi), i) < \lambda_1((\varphi), i) \leq \lambda_2((\varphi), i) \leq \cdots \uparrow \infty$  denote the spectrum of the closed orbifold  $\widetilde{O}^i_{(\varphi)}$ , the corresponding connected component of  $C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$ . Let  $H_{(\varphi),i}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_j((\varphi),i)t}$  denote the corresponding heat trace of  $O^i_{(\omega)}$ . Then the  $\Gamma$ -heat trace of O is given by

$$\sum_{(\varphi)\in \mathrm{HOM}(\Gamma,G)/G} \quad \sum_{i=1}^{m_{(\varphi)}} H_{(\varphi),i}(t).$$

Then the  $\Gamma$ -heat trace is asymptotic as  $t \to 0^+$  to

$$\sum_{(\varphi)\in \mathrm{HOM}(\Gamma,G)/G} \sum_{i=1}^{m_{(\varphi)}} (4\pi t)^{-\dim(\widetilde{O}^i_{(\varphi)})/2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_j((\varphi),i) t^{j/2},$$

where the  $c_j((\varphi), i)$  are the coefficients of the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace of  $\widetilde{O}^i_{(\varphi)}$ .

If O is effective, then the dimension of the nontwisted sector  $O_{(1)} \cong O$  is strictly larger than the dimension of each twisted sector. Therefore, the lowest-degree term in the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace is  $(4\pi t)^{-\dim(O)/2} \operatorname{vol}(O)$ , with no contributions from the twisted sectors. In particular, the lowest degree term of the asymptotic expansions of the  $\Gamma$ -heat trace and ordinary heat trace coincide.

Suppose on the other hand that O is not effective so that a nontrivial finite subgroup  $K \trianglelefteq G$  acts trivially on M. Then the sectors  $\widetilde{O}_{(\varphi)}$  corresponding to  $\varphi$ with image contained in K have dimension equal to dim(O), while all other sectors have dimension strictly less than dim(O). Then as G acts on HOM $(\Gamma, K)$ , it follows that the lowest-degree term in the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace is

$$(4\pi t)^{-\dim(O)/2} \sum_{(\varphi)\in \operatorname{HOM}(\Gamma,K)/G} \operatorname{vol}(C_G(\varphi) \ltimes M),$$

where the volumes in the sum need not be of connected orbifolds.

These observations yield the following.

**Proposition 2.10.** Let O be a compact, connected, effective Riemannian orbifold. Then the volume and dimension of O are determined by the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum for any finitely generated discrete group  $\Gamma$ . If O is not effective, then the dimension of Ois determined by the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum for any finitely generated discrete group  $\Gamma$ .

Note that as in the case of the ordinary spectrum, the asymptotic expansion of the heat trace is a strictly coarser invariant than the spectrum itself. See Section 3.3.3 for an example of orbifolds for which the asymptotic expansions of the  $\Gamma$ -heat traces coincide for every group  $\Gamma$  though the orbifolds are not  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for every  $\Gamma$ .

#### 3. Isospectral, nonisometic orbifolds and their $\Gamma$ -spectra

In this section, we consider the  $\Gamma$ -spectra of examples of isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds that have been given in the literature. Along with using these examples to illustrate features of the  $\Gamma$ -spectrum, we will see that in many examples, the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -spectrum is able to distinguish between isospectral pairs; this is the case for the examples recalled in Sections 3.1 through 3.3. We will also indicate known examples of nonisometric orbifolds with nontrivial singular set that are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for every choice of  $\Gamma$  in Section 3.4. Throughout this section, we restrict our attention to pairs of orbifolds with nontrivial singular sets because if O and O' are isospectral manifolds, then they are automatically  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for every choice of  $\Gamma$ . 3.1. Examples of Shams-Stanhope-Webb. In [31], given an odd prime p and an integer  $m \ge 1$ , Shams, Stanhope, and Webb construct a family  $\{O_i : i = 0, \ldots, m\}$  of pairwise isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds. As we will see below, no  $O_i$  and  $O_j$  with  $i \ne j$  are  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral. These examples illustrate how one can conclude that orbifolds are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral without determining the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors explicitly.

The orbifolds  $O_i$  are given by quotients of the standard unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{p^{3m}-1}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{p^{3m}}$  by subgroups of the permutation group  $S_{p^{3m}}$  acting on a basis for  $\mathbb{R}^{p^{3m}}$ . Specifically, let H denote the mod-p Heisenberg group and let  $E = (\mathbb{Z}_p)^3$ . Then  $O_i$  is given by  $H_i \ltimes \mathbb{S}^{p^{3m}-1}$  where  $H_i = H^i \times E^{m-i}$ , realized as a subgroup of  $S_{p^{3m}}$ .

To see that no pair  $O_i$  and  $O_j$  are  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral for  $i \neq j$ , we first consider the case m = 1, i.e. the two orbifolds  $O_0 = E \ltimes \mathbb{S}^{p^3-1}$  and  $O_1 = H \ltimes \mathbb{S}^{p^3-1}$ . To compute the fixed-point sets, note that each nontrivial element a of E has order p so that the left action of a partitions E into  $p^2$  orbits of size p. Given a standard basis vector  $e_i$  of  $\mathbb{R}^{p^3}$ , let  $e_i^a = \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} a^k e_i$  denote the average of  $e_i$  over the action of  $\langle a \rangle$ . Note that  $e_i^a = e_j^a$  if and only if  $e_i$  and  $e_j$  are in the same orbit, and hence there are  $p^2$  distinct  $e_i^a$  corresponding to the  $p^2 \langle a \rangle$ -orbits in E. A vector in  $\mathbb{R}^{p^3}$  is fixed by a if and only if it is a linear combination of the  $e_i^a$ , so that  $(\mathbb{R}^{p^3})^a$  is a subspace of dimension  $p^2$ . Then  $(\mathbb{S}^{p^3-1})^a$  is  $(p^2-1)$ -dimensional, and in particular is a subsphere of  $\mathbb{S}^{p^3-1}$  of positive dimension, hence connected. As E and H are almost conjugate, the same holds for true for the nontrivial elements of H.

Since E is abelian, the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors  $(O_0)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  consist of the nontwisted sector  $O_0$  as well as  $p^3 - 1$  twisted sectors of the form  $E \ltimes \mathbb{S}^{p^2-1}$ . Thus,  $(O_0)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  has  $p^3$  connected components. On the other hand, since H is not abelian, H contains strictly fewer than  $p^3$  conjugacy classes and therefore  $(O_1)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  has strictly fewer than  $p^3$  connected components, each of which can be represented by a quotient of  $\mathbb{S}^{p^2-1}$  by a subgroup of H. We conclude that  $O_0$  and  $O_1$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral since the multiplicities of 0 in their  $\mathbb{Z}$ -spectra do not coincide.

For general m, note that the bijection from  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, A \times B)$  to  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, A) \times \operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, B)$  given by  $\varphi \mapsto (\pi_A \circ \varphi, \pi_B \circ \varphi)$ , where  $\pi_A$  and  $\pi_B$  denote the respective projection homomorphisms, is equivariant with respect to conjugation by  $A \times B$  and hence induces a bijection between  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, A \times B)/(A \times B)$  and  $\operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, A)/A \times \operatorname{HOM}(\mathbb{Z}, B)/B$ . Hence, the above argument demonstrates that for i < j, the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $H_i \ltimes \mathbb{S}^{p^{3m}-1}$  have strictly fewer connected components than the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $H_j \ltimes \mathbb{S}^{p^{3m}-1}$ . Thus, we conclude that no pair of these orbifolds is  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral.

3.2. Homogeneous space examples of Rossetti-Schueth-Weilandt. In [28], Rossetti, Schueth, and Weilandt describe several pairs of isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds, demonstrating in particular that isospectral orbifolds need not have the same maximal isotropy order. The first three examples that they give (Examples 2.7–9) are biquotients of SO(6). In each of these examples, the resulting isospectral orbifold pairs are not  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ - or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ -isospectral for any  $\ell \geq 1$ . We will describe this computation for their Examples 2.7 and 2.9 explicitly in Sections 3.2.1 and 3.2.2 to illustrate the computation of the  $\Gamma$ -sectors and  $\Gamma$ -spectrum. Note that the computation for their Example 2.8 is similar to that carried out for Example 2.7 below; the resulting twisted sectors of the two orbifolds have a common Riemannian cover and can be seen to be not isospectral by an application of [18, Proposition 3.4(ii)]. In order to describe these examples, let  $a_{i_1i_2\cdots i_m}$  to denote a square diagonal  $6 \times 6$  matrix with -1 in the  $i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_m$  positions and 1 everywhere else. We recall from [28, Example 2.4] the groups

$$(3.1) K_1 = \{I, -I, a_{12}, a_{13}, a_{23}, a_{1456}, a_{2456}, a_{3456}\}$$

and

$$(3.2) K_2 = \{I, -I, a_{12}, a_{34}, a_{56}, a_{1234}, a_{1256}, a_{3456}\}.$$

The orbifold pairs in Examples 2.7-9 in [28] are of the form  $O_1 = K_1 \ltimes (SO(6)/H)$ and  $O_2 = K_2 \ltimes (SO(6)/H)$  where *H* is a choice of subgroup in SO(6). They are isospectral by Sunada's theorem. (See Section 4 below for a discussion of Sunada's theorem.)

3.2.1.  $H \cong SO(3)$ , [28, Example 2.7]. In this case,  $H \cong SO(3)$  is chosen to be the subgroup of matrices in  $3 \times 3$  blocks of the form

$$\left[\begin{array}{rrr} A & 0 \\ 0 & I_3 \end{array}\right]$$

with  $A \in SO(3)$ , so that M = SO(6)/H is the Steifel manifold  $V_{6,3}$  of orthonormal 3-frames in  $\mathbb{R}^6$ . In particular, for  $b \in SO(6)$ , the coset bH corresponds to the frame given by the last three columns of b. With a choice of biinvariant metric on SO(6), the orbifolds  $O_1 = K_1 \ltimes M$  and  $O_2 = K_2 \ltimes M$  are isospectral with different maximal isotropy orders.

To compute the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , note that an element  $bH \in SO(6)/H$  is fixed by  $a_{i_1i_2\cdots i_m}$  (acting on the left) if and only if the last three columns of b have the zero rows in positions  $i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_m$ . It is easy to see that

$$M^{a_{1456}} = M^{a_{2456}} = M^{a_{3456}} = M^{a_{1234}} = M^{a_{1256}} = M^{-I} = \emptyset.$$

because if bH were fixed by any of these elements of  $K_1$  or  $K_2$ , then the last three columns of b would be a linearly independent set of three vectors in a subspace of dimension zero or two. Thus the Z-sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  both consist of four connected components.

In the case of  $O_1$ , besides the nontwisted sector, the three  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors

$$\widetilde{(O_1)}_{(a_{12})} \cong (\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{13})} \cong (\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{23})}$$

are isometric; we describe  $(O_1)_{(a_{12})}$  in detail. The fixed point set  $M^{a_{12}}$  consists of cosets bH corresponding to elements  $b \in SO(6)$  of the form

$$\left[\begin{array}{cc} *_{2\times 3} & 0_{2\times 3} \\ *_{4\times 3} & v_{4\times 3} \end{array}\right].$$

Here,  $v_{4\times 3}$  is an orthonormal 3-frame in  $\mathbb{R}^4$  that depends only on the coset bH, while \* indicates entries of b that depend on the choice of representative from bH. Since  $K_1$  is abelian, the centralizer of any element is the entire group, so  $(O_1)_{(a_{12})} \cong K_1 \ltimes M^{a_{12}}$ .

In order to understand the action of  $K_1$  on  $M^{a_{12}}$ , we first note that  $K_1 \cong (\mathbb{Z}_2)^3 \cong \langle a_{12} \rangle \oplus \langle a_{13} \rangle \oplus \langle a_{1456} \rangle$ . Thus the action of  $K_1$  corresponds to a trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{12}$  as well as a nontrivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{13}$  and  $a_{1456}$  on the rows indexed 3456 of  $v_{4\times 3}$ . The action of  $a_{13}$  fixes the set of cosets for which the first row of  $v_{4\times 3}$  vanishes, and therefore the fixed point set of  $a_{13}$  is isometric to SO(3). All other elements of  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$  have no fixed points because, as above, it

is impossible to have three linearly independent vectors in a subspace of dimension less than three.

The remaining twisted sectors  $(O_1)_{(a_{13})}$  and  $(O_1)_{(a_{23})}$  are identical up to permuting rows.

In the case of  $O_2$ , the three twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors are

$$(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})} \cong (\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{34})} \cong (\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{56})}$$

and are again isometric simply by permuting rows, so we focus our attention on  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})}$ . The fixed point set  $M^{a_{12}}$  is as in the case of  $O_1$ , and again, since  $K_2$  is abelian,  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})} \cong K_2 \ltimes M^{a_{12}}$ . In this case,  $K_2 \cong (\mathbb{Z}_2)^3 \cong \langle a_{12} \rangle \oplus \langle a_{34} \rangle \oplus \langle a_{56} \rangle$  so the action of  $K_2$  corresponds to a trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{12}$  as well as a  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{34}$  and  $a_{56}$  on the rows indexed 3456 of  $v_{4\times 3}$ . As above, since there cannot be three linearly independent vectors in a subspace of dimension less than three, the  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action is free. We conclude therefore that  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})}$  (and thus  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{34})}$  and  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{56})}$ ) is a smooth manifold.

To see that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral, note that the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -spectrum of each  $O_i$  is the union

$$\operatorname{Spec}(O_i) \cup \operatorname{3Spec}\left((\widetilde{O_i})_{(a_{12})}\right),$$

where the 3 indicates that the multiplicity of each element of the spectrum is multiplied by 3. Since  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are isospectral, it is sufficient to show that  $(O_1)_{(a_{12})}$ and  $(O_2)_{(a_{12})}$  are not isospectral. The effective orbifold associated to  $(O_1)_{(a_{12})}$  is a 6-dimensional orbifold with 3-dimensional singular set, while the effective orbifold associated to  $(O_2)_{(a_{12})}$  is a smooth 6-dimensional manifold. Hence, it follows from [9, Theorem 5.1] that they are not isospectral.

It is also of interest to consider the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of the orbifolds  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  for other free groups  $\Gamma$ . Since  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  are abelian, the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors and the  $\mathbb{F}_2$ sectors coincide; see [11]. The fact that the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors coincide with the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors computed above (see [16, Theorem 3.1]) makes it straightforward to compute the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ .

For  $O_1$ , from the nontwisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sector  $O_1$ , a computation identical to the one above gives four  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors: one copy of  $O_1$  and three sectors that are isometric to  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{12})} \cong K_1 \ltimes M^{a_{12}}$ . From each of the three twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{12})}$  we get two copies of  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{12})}$  (corresponding to homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z} \to K_1$  with image I and  $\langle a_{12} \rangle$  respectively) and two copies of  $K_1 \ltimes SO(3)$  (corresponding to homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z} \to K_1$  with images  $\langle a_{13} \rangle$  and  $\langle a_{23} \rangle$  respectively). Thus in total, the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors of  $O_1$  are given by

- the nontwisted sector isometric to  $O_1$ ;
- nine isometric copies of  $(O_1)_{(a_{12})}$ ; and
- six isometric copies of  $K_1 \ltimes SO(3)$ .

Similarly, for  $O_2$ , from the nontwisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sector  $O_2$  we obtain one copy of  $O_2$ and three sectors that are isometric to  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})} \cong K_2 \ltimes M^{a_{12}}$ . From each of the three twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})}$  we get two copies of  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})}$ , corresponding to homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z} \to K_2$  with image I and  $\langle a_{12} \rangle$  respectively. Thus the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors of  $O_2$  are

- the nontwisted sector isometric to  $O_2$ ; and
- nine isometric copies of  $(O_2)_{(a_{12})}$ .

Since the number of connected components of the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  respectively do not coincide, the multiplicities of 0 in the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -spectra of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  do not coincide, thus  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -isospectral.

As the isotropy group of each point in  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  is abelian and can be generated by two elements, the  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ -sectors of each  $O_i$  for  $\ell > 2$  will simply yield multiple copies of the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors of  $O_i$ . In general, by counting homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell} \to K_i$  whose images have nontrivial fixed point sets, we conclude that  $(O_1)_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}}$  consists of  $4^{\ell}$ connected components while  $(O_2)_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}}$  consists of  $3 \cdot 2^{\ell} - 2$  connected components, so these orbifolds are not  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ -isospectral for any positive  $\ell$ .

3.2.2.  $H \cong SO(5)$  [28, Example 2.9]. In this case,  $H \cong SO(5)$  is chosen to be the subgroup of matrices of the form

$$\left[\begin{array}{rr} A & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{array}\right]$$

with  $A \in SO(5)$  so that M = SO(6)/H is isometric to the standard sphere  $\mathbb{S}^5$  in  $\mathbb{R}^6$ . The twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of the orbifold  $O_1 = K_1 \ltimes M$  are given by

$$(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{12})} \cong (\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{13})} \cong (\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{23})},$$

each isometric to the standard sphere  $\mathbb{S}^3$  with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{12}$ and  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{13}$  and  $a_{1456}$  in coordinates indexed 3456 for  $\mathbb{R}^4$ , as well as

$$(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{1456})} \cong (\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{2456})} \cong (\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{3456})},$$

each isometric to  $\mathbb{S}^1$  with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{1456}$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{12}$  and  $a_{13}$  in coordinates indexed 23 for  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Similarly, the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $O_2 = K_2 \ltimes M$  are given by

$$(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})} \cong (\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{34})} \cong (\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{56})}$$

each isometric to the standard sphere  $\mathbb{S}^3$  with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{12}$ and  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{34}$  and  $a_{56}$  in coordinates indexed 3456 for  $\mathbb{R}^4$ , as well as

$$(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{1234})} \cong (\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{1256})} \cong (\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{3456})}$$

each isometric to  $\mathbb{S}^1$  with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{12}$  and  $a_{34}$ , and  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action generated by  $a_{56}$ .

It is possible to compute the small values of the Z-spectrum directly using the fact that the eigenfunctions of the Laplacian on a standard sphere are given by the restrictions of the homogeneous harmonic polynomials on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ; see [2]. It follows that the eigenfunctions on an orbifold space form are given by the invariant homogeneous harmonic polynomials; see [28]. By computing bases for the  $k^{th}$  eigenspaces of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  and  $\mathbb{S}^3$  and checking invariance directly, one computes that the first elements of the spectrum of  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{1456})}$  are 0 and 4, both with a multiplicity of 1. The next eigenvalue of  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{1456})}$  must be at least 9. The first eigenvalue of  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{12})}$  is 0 with a multiplicity of 1 and the next eigenvalue is 8.

On the other hand, the first elements of the spectrum of  $(O_2)_{(a_{1234})}$  are 0 with a multiplicity of 1 and 4 with a multiplicity of 2, and the next eigenvalue is at

14

least 9. The first eigenvalue of  $(O_2)_{(a_{12})}$  is 0 with a multiplicity of 1, and the next eigenvalue is 8.

It follows that  $\mathbb{Z}$ -spectrum of  $O_1$  is given by

 $Spec(O_1) \cup \{0_6, 4_3, \cdots\}$ 

with subscripts indicating multiplicity, while the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -spectrum of  $O_2$  is given by

$$\text{Spec}(O_2) \cup \{0_6, 4_6, \cdots\}.$$

Since  $\operatorname{Spec}(O_1) = \operatorname{Spec}(O_2)$ , the multiplicity of 4 cannot coincide in the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -spectra of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , and hence they are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral.

Similarly, because  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{12})}$ ,  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{(a_{1456})}$ , and  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{12})}$  all have 6  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors, while  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{(a_{1234})}$  has 4  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors, it is easy to see that  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} = (\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}$  has more connected components than  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} = (\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}$ , so that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ - or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ -isospectral for any  $\ell$ .

3.3. Flat space examples of Rossetti-Schueth-Weilandt. In addition to the examples given above, Rossetti, Scheuth, and Weilandt also describe pairs of isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds given by quotients of  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with its standard, flat metric by pairs of crystallographic groups  $K_1$  and  $K_2$ , i.e. groups of isometries of  $\mathbb{R}^3$  that act properly discontinuously with compact quotients. In these cases, the resulting orbifolds are shown to be isospectral using either Sunada's theorem or an eigenspace dimension counting formula [28, Theorem 3.1]; see also [21, 22]. In every case, the resulting orbifolds are not  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ - or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ -isospectral for  $\ell \geq 1$ . This follows from the fact that the collections of twisted sectors are not isospectral, similar to the examples in Section 3.2. However, because the singular sets of these orbifolds are described in detail in [28], the sectors can be computed directly from these descriptions using Remark 3.1 below. We will briefly describe the sectors and consequence for Examples 3.3, 3.5, and 3.7 of [28] in order to illustrate this approach; note that Examples 3.9 and 3.10 can be treated identically. In each case,  $O_i = K_i \ltimes \mathbb{R}^3$  for i = 1, 2. See [38] for more details.

**Remark 3.1.** Let O be a quotient orbifold represented by  $G \ltimes M$ ,  $\Gamma$  a finitely generated discrete group, and  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G$  a homomorphism such that  $M^{\langle \varphi \rangle} \neq \emptyset$ . Recall that a linear orbifold chart  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$  for O at the orbit Gx induces a chart  $\{V_x^{\langle \varphi \rangle}, C_{G_x}(\varphi), \pi_x^{\varphi}\}$  for  $\widetilde{O}_{(\varphi)}$  at the point  $C_G(\varphi)x$ . Hence, the  $\Gamma$ -sectors can be determined locally in terms of an orbifold chart and then patched together, which is often convenient when the singular set and isotropy groups of O are known explicitly. We use this fact when computing sectors in each of the examples in this section.

3.3.1. [28, Example 3.3]. In this example, the singular sets of the orbifolds  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  each consist of a disjoint union of circles. For each  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$  or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$  with  $\ell \geq 1$ , the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  have a different number of connected components so that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\Gamma$ -isospectral.

The singular set of  $O_1$  consists of three circles  $\mathbb{S}^1$  of length 1 with isotropy groups  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ ,  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ , and  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ , respectively. A linear orbifold chart for a point contained in a singular circle with isotropy group  $\mathbb{Z}_k$  is of the form  $\{V_x, G_x, \pi_x\}$  where  $V_x$ is diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and  $G_x \cong \mathbb{Z}_k$  acts as rotations about an axis. Hence the corresponding charts for  $(O_1)_{\mathbb{Z}}$  are parameterized by homomorphisms  $\varphi \colon \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_k$ , where the trivial homomorphism yields a chart for the nontwisted sector and each nontrivial homomorphism yields a chart of the form  $\left\{V_x^{\langle\varphi\rangle}, C_{G_x}(\varphi), \pi_x^{\varphi}\right\}$  where  $V_x^{\langle\varphi\rangle}$  is a line on which  $C_{G_x}(\varphi) \cong \mathbb{Z}_k$  acts trivially. These charts patch together to describe a neighborhood of the circle in the nontwisted sector as well as one circle with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_k$ -action for each nontrivial homomorphism  $\varphi: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_k$ .

It follows that the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $O_1$  consist of seven copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  with length 1, six with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ -action and one with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action. The singular set of  $O_2$ , on the other hand, consists of four copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$ , each with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy, two of length 2 and two of length 1. Therefore, the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $O_2$  consist of four copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action in pairs of length 2 and 1. As the numbers of connected components do not coincide,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral. Similarly, for  $\ell > 1$ ,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are easily seen to not be  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ - or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ -isospectral by counting numbers of nontrivial homomorphisms from  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$  into respective isotropy groups. Indeed,  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} = (\widetilde{O_1})_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}$  has  $2(4^{\ell} - 1) + 2^{\ell}$  connected components, each twisted sector a circle of length 1 with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ - or  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ -isotropy, while  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} = (\widetilde{O_2})_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}$  has  $4 \cdot 2^{\ell} - 3$  connected components, each twisted sector a circle of length 1 or 2 with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy.

3.3.2. [28, Example 3.5]. This example is similar to that treated in Section 3.3.1 above, though the singular set of  $O_2$  is more interesting. We again have that the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  have a different number of connected components when  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$  or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$  with  $\ell \geq 1$ .

The singular set of  $O_1$  consists of three circles  $\mathbb{S}^1$  of length 2 with isotropy groups  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ ,  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ , and  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ , respectively. It follows that the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors of  $O_1$  consist of 7 copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  with length 2, six with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ -action and one with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ action. The orbifold  $O_2$  has singular set given by a trivalent graph with 8 vertices and 12 edges forming the 1-skeleton of a cube, where each vertex has  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ isotropy and each edge has  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy; the action of each  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  on  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is given by a rotation through  $\pi$  about a single axis, while the action of each  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$  is given by rotation through  $\pi$  about two orthogonal axes. Because the vertices do not have cyclic isotropy, they do not appear as 0-dimensional  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors. Rather, the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors are twelve mirrored intervals of length 1 with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy on the interior and  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy on the endpoints. That is, each twisted sector is the quotient of a circle  $\mathbb{S}^1$  of length 2 by a  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -action, where one  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -factor acts trivially and the other acts by reflection through a diameter. Since the numbers of connected components do not match,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral. Similarly, for  $\ell > 1$ ,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are easily seen to not be  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ - or  $\mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ -isospectral. Indeed,  $(O_1)_{\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} = (O_1)_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}$ has  $2(4^{\ell}-1)+2^{\ell}$  connected components, each twisted sector a circle of length 2 with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ - or  $\mathbb{Z}_4$ -isotropy. On the other hand,  $(O_2)_{\mathbb{Z}^\ell} = (O_2)_{\mathbb{F}_\ell}$  has  $2^{2\ell+3} - 3 \cdot 2^{\ell+2} + 5$ connected components consisting of  $8(4^{\ell} - 3 \cdot 2^{\ell} + 2)$  points with  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy,  $12(2^{\ell}-1)$  mirrored intervals with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy on the interior, and the nontwisted sector.

3.3.3. [28, Example 3.7]. The orbifolds in this example are again similar to those in Section 3.3.1 above, and are not  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for any  $\Gamma$  that admits a nontrivial homomorphism to  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ . However, it is of interest to note that the asymptotic expansions of the  $\Gamma$ -heat kernels of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  coincide for every group  $\Gamma$ ; see Section 2.3.

The orbifold  $O_1$  in this case has a singular set consisting of two copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$ of length  $\sqrt{2}$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy. Hence the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors consist of two copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  of length  $\sqrt{2}$  with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action. The singular set of  $O_2$  consists of four copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  of length  $1/\sqrt{2}$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy, so that the twisted  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors consist of four copies of  $\mathbb{S}^1$  of length  $1/\sqrt{2}$  equipped with trivial  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action. Again, the  $\mathbb{Z}$ sectors have different numbers of connected components, and hence  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral. Similarly, for any  $\Gamma$ , it is easy to see that  $(\widetilde{O_1})_{\Gamma}$  consists of the nontwisted sector and  $2(|\text{HOM}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}_2)| - 1)$  circles of length  $\sqrt{2}$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy, while  $(\widetilde{O_2})_{\Gamma}$  consists of the nontwisted sector and  $4(|\text{HOM}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}_2)| - 1)$  circles of length  $1/\sqrt{2}$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -isotropy. Therefore,  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for any  $\Gamma$  that admits a nontrivial homomorphism to  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ .

To see that that the asymptotic expansions of the  $\Gamma$ -heat kernels of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ coincide for every  $\Gamma$ , note that as  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are isospectral, the usual heat kernels of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  coincide. In addition, the asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel of a 1-dimensional manifold with connected components  $M_1, \ldots, M_n$  is given by  $(l_1 + \cdots + l_n)(4\pi t)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  where  $l_i$  is the length of  $M_i$ ; see [3, Section 9] or [24, Section 1.2]. Hence, as the twisted  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  consist of circles whose lengths sum to  $2\sqrt{2}(|\text{HOM}(\Gamma, \mathbb{Z}_2)| - 1)$ , the contributions of the twisted sectors to the asymptotic expansions of the  $\Gamma$ -heat traces coincide.

3.4. Lens space examples of Shams. In [30], Shams Ul Bari studies orbifold lens spaces, orbifolds given by the quotient of the standard unit sphere by a cyclic group of isometries. Several pairs of isospectral, nonisometric orbifolds are determined. In each example, a pair of orbifolds  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  is given of the form  $G_1 \ltimes S^n$  and  $G_2 \ltimes S^n$ , respectively, where  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  are cyclic groups of the same order acting as isometries on  $S^n$ . In every example, the singular sets of  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are identical, given by spheres or products of spheres with the standard metric, and the isotropy groups of these singular sets coincide. It therefore follows that the collection of twisted  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_1$  is isometric to the collection of twisted  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_2$  for any  $\Gamma$ , and hence each pair of isospectral lens spaces is in fact  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for every  $\Gamma$ .

## 4. The Sunada method and $\Gamma$ -isospectrality

Early examples of isospectral pairs of manifolds were produced using ad hoc arguments. Sunada was the first to introduce a systematic method for producing isospectral manifolds, [33]. His technique is based on identifying triples  $(G, H_1, H_2)$  of finite groups, with  $H_1, H_2 \leq G$ , acting freely by isometries on a compact Riemannian manifold (M, g). If  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  are almost conjugate in G, meaning that each conjugacy class in G intersects  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  in the same number of elements, then  $H_1 \setminus M$  and  $H_2 \setminus M$  are isospectral manifolds.

In [20], Ikeda gave a simple proof of Sunada's theorem that makes it evident that the group G can be any subgroup of the group of isometries of (M, g), and that  $H_1$ and  $H_2$  need not act freely. (In his statement of the theorem, Ikeda assumed that  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  act freely, but did not use the assumption in his proof.) Thus we have the following. **Theorem 4.1** ([33], [20]). Suppose that (M,g) is a compact Riemannian manifold and that G is a group that acts on (M,g) on the left by isometries. Suppose that  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  are finite, almost conjugate subgroups of G. Then  $O_1 = H_1 \setminus M$  and  $O_2 = H_2 \setminus M$ , with their respective submersion metrics, are isospectral orbifolds.

We remark that if  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  are actually conjugate in G, then the resulting orbifolds will be isometric.

In general, isospectral pairs or families of orbifolds arising from Sunada's method are not necessarily  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for any particular choice of  $\Gamma$ . We see this by noting that, as explained in Section 3, none of the pairs of isospectral orbifolds in Examples 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 3.7, or 3.9 in [28], all of which arise from an application of Sunada's theorem, are  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ -isospectral for any positive  $\ell$ . Similarly, although the orbifolds in any family of isospectral orbifolds constructed by Shams, Stanhope, and Webb in [31] are isospectral via Sunada's theorem, they are pairwise not  $\mathbb{Z}$ -isospectral as demonstrated in Section 3.1.

For given finitely generated discrete group  $\Gamma$ , in order to conclude that two Sunada-isospectral orbifolds are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral, we have the following.

**Theorem 4.2.** Let (M, g) be a compact Riemannian manifold and G a group acting on (M, g) on the left by isometries. Let  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  be almost conjugate finite subgroups of G, and suppose that  $\Gamma$  is a finitely generated discrete group. If there is a bijective correspondence between homomorphisms  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to H_1$  whose images have nonempty fixed point sets and homomorphisms  $\psi \colon \Gamma \to H_2$  such that for each pair  $\varphi, \psi$  there is an isometry  $i \colon M^{\langle \varphi \rangle} \to M^{\langle \psi \rangle}$  and  $C_{H_2}(\psi)$  is almost conjugate to  $iC_{H_1}(\varphi)i^{-1}$  in the isometry group of  $M^{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , then  $H_1 \setminus M$  and  $H_2 \setminus M$  are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral.

*Proof.* Since  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  are almost conjugate, by Theorem 4.1,  $H_1 \setminus M$  and  $H_2 \setminus M$  are isospectral. Since  $i: M^{\langle \varphi \rangle} \to M^{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is an isometry, also by Theorem 4.1,  $C_{H_1}(\varphi) \setminus M^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  and  $C_{H_2}(\psi) \setminus M^{\langle \psi \rangle}$  are isospectral orbifolds. Thus, there is a bijective, isospectral correspondence between the sectors of  $H_1 \setminus M$  and  $H_2 \setminus M$ , so by definition of the Γ-spectrum,  $H_1 \setminus M$  and  $H_2 \setminus M$  are Γ-isospectral. □

**Remark 4.3.** We note that since pairs of orbifolds arising from Theorem 4.1 are p-isospectral (i.e. are isospectral for the Laplace operator acting on p-forms) for all p, orbifolds arising from Theorem 4.2 are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral on p-forms for all p as well.

We now construct a pair of orbifolds that have nontrivial  $\mathbb{Z}$ - and  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors that are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for all  $\Gamma$  by Theorem 4.2.

**Example 4.4.** Let  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  denote the subgroups of SO(6) defined in Section 3.2, Equations 3.1 and 3.2. Recall that  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  are almost conjugate but not conjugate in SO(6). For i = 1, 2, let  $K_i^{\Delta_2}$  denote the subgroup of SO(12) isomorphic to  $K_i$  given by identifying  $K_i$  with the diagonal in  $K_i \times K_i < SO(12)$ .

We define the orbifolds  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  as biquotients of SO(15). To begin, identify SO(3) with the subgroup of SO(15) consisting of matrices of the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & I_{12} \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $A \in SO(3)$ . Similarly, identify SO(12) with the subgroup of SO(15) of matrices

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_3 & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $B \in SO(12)$ . Using this identification, we may think of  $K_i^{\Delta_2} < SO(12)$  as a subgroup of SO(15). Let  $G_i < SO(15)$ , i = 1, 2, be the subgroup isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}_2^5$  generated by  $a_{12}$ ,  $a_{23}$ , and  $K_i^{\Delta_2}$ , and note that the  $K_i^{\Delta_2}$  act on coordinates 4 through 15. Furthermore,  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  are almost conjugate but not conjugate in SO(15) for the same reason that  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  are almost conjugate but not conjugate in SO(6).

Let M = SO(15)/SO(3). Then M can be identified with the set of 12-frames in  $\mathbb{R}^{15}$ , where the 12-frame associated to the coset bSO(3) of  $b \in SO(15)$  is given by the last 12 columns of b. For i = 1, 2, let  $O_i$  be the orbifold presented by  $G_i \ltimes M$  equipped with the submersion metric arising from a fixed biinvariant metric on SO(15). By Theorem 2.5 in [28],  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are isospectral orbifolds.

We now compute the sectors of the orbifolds  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ . Every element of  $G_i$  is diagonal with eigenvalues 1 or -1. If we identify an element  $bSO(3) \in M$  with a  $15 \times 12$  matrix having orthonormal columns, the left action of an element  $h \in G_i$ on bSO(3) negates the rows in bSO(3) corresponding to the positions of -1 on the diagonal in h. Thus, for an element  $bSO(3) \in M$  to be fixed by h, bSO(3) must have a zero row corresponding to the placement of each -1 in h. For any  $h \in G_i$ , we then see that  $M^{\langle h \rangle}$  is the set of 12-frames in  $\mathbb{R}^{15-m}$  where m is the multiplicity of -1 as an eigenvalue of h. This implies that in order for an element of  $G_i$  to have a nonempty fixed point set, it must have eigenvalue -1 with multiplicity no more than 3. We also note that by construction, only even m occur.

Since every element of  $K_i^{\Delta_2}$  has eigenvalue -1 with multiplicity of at least 4, no element of  $K_i^{\Delta_2}$  has nonempty fixed point set in M. Therefore, only the elements  $a_{12}$ ,  $a_{13}$ , and  $a_{23}$  have nonempty fixed point sets. Hence, the only subgroups of  $G_i$  that have nonempty fixed point set in M are  $\langle a_{12} \rangle$ ,  $\langle a_{13} \rangle$ ,  $\langle a_{23} \rangle$ , and  $\langle a_{12}, a_{13} \rangle \cong (\mathbb{Z}_2)^2$ . Note that  $M^{\langle a_{12} \rangle}$ ,  $M^{\langle a_{13} \rangle}$ , and  $M^{\langle a_{23} \rangle}$  correspond to the collection of 12-frames in  $\mathbb{R}^{13}$ , while  $M^{\langle a_{12}, a_{13} \rangle}$  corresponds to the collection of 12-frames in  $\mathbb{R}^{12}$ . It follows that for any finitely generated discrete group  $\Gamma$ , the bijection between homomorphisms  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G_1$  and  $\psi \colon \Gamma \to G_2$  with nonempty fixed point set required in Theorem 4.2 is trivial, as is the isometry  $i \colon M^{\langle \varphi \rangle} \to M^{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . Then as  $C_{G_1}(\varphi) = G_1$  and  $C_{G_2}(\psi) = G_2$  are almost conjugate, it follows that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for all  $\Gamma$ . Note that as  $\langle a_{12}, a_{13} \rangle$  is not a homomorphic image of  $\mathbb{Z}$ , both  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  have  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors that do not appear as  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sectors.

To show that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are not isometric, note that the lowest-dimensional  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -sectors of both  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are the 66-dimensional sectors corresponding to homomorphisms with image  $\langle a_{12}, a_{13} \rangle$ . They are given by  $K_i^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  for i = 1, 2, respectively. Hence, it will be sufficient to show that  $K_1^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  is not isometric to  $K_2^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$ .

Suppose for contradiction that  $K_1^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  and  $K_2^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  are isometric, and consider the biquotients  $O'_1 = K_1^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)/K_1^{\Delta_2}$  and  $O'_2 = K_2^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)/K_1^{\Delta_2}$ . Then the manifold  $K_1^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12) = K_2^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  is by hypothesis a common Riemannian cover for both  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$ . By [28, Corollary 2.6],  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are isospectral and have different maximal isotropy orders. In fact, computations similar to those in Section 3.2.1 demonstrate that both are noneffective orbifolds with generic isotropy  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ . The orbifold  $O'_1$  contains points with isotropy  $(\mathbb{Z}_2)^3$  that form strata of the singular set of dimension 18, while the lowest-dimensional strata of the singular set of  $O'_2$  are of dimension 34. To see this, for each  $g \in K_i$ , let  $\tilde{g}$  denote the corresponding element of  $K_i^{\Delta_2}$ . We indicate these elements using coordinates in SO(12) rather than SO(15) for simplicity. Then the element -I acts trivially (on the right) on both  $K_1^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  and  $K_2^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$ . Similarly,  $\tilde{a}_{12} \in K_1^{\Delta_2}$  fixes in both  $K_1^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$  and  $K_2^{\Delta_2} \setminus SO(12)$ . Components isometric to the set of right  $K_i$ -cosets of matrices whose four  $6 \times 6$  blocks are of the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} *_{2\times 2} & 0_{2\times 4} \\ \hline 0_{4\times 2} & *_{4\times 4} \end{bmatrix}$$

This set of matrices in SO(12) is diffeomorphic to  $SO(4) \times SO(8)$ , which is of dimension 34, and finitely covers the corresponding singular set in each orbifold. In  $O'_2$ , by an argument similar to the one given in [28, Example 2.8], these sets have maximal isotropy  $\langle \tilde{I}, \tilde{a_{12}} \rangle$  and hence are the lowest-dimensional singular strata. However, in  $O'_1$ , the entire group  $K_1^{\Delta_2}$  fixes components corresponding to matrices whose four  $6 \times 6$  blocks are of the form

$$\begin{bmatrix}
* & 0 & 0 \\
0 & * & 0 \\
0 & 0 & *
\end{bmatrix}$$

Each such set of matrices is diffeomorphic to  $SO(2)^3 \times SO(6)$ , which has dimension 18, and finitely covers the lowest-dimensional singular strata in  $O'_1$ .

We conclude that  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are isospectral orbifolds with a common Riemannian cover such that the lowest-dimensional singular strata in each are of different dimensions. This yields a contradiction when we demonstrate the following.

**Lemma 4.5.** Suppose  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are isospectral orbifolds that have as a common Riemannian cover the smooth manifold M. Then the dimensions of the lowest-dimensional singular strata of  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  coincide.

Note that the orbifolds  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are required to be covered by a manifold and hence are good orbifolds. The proof is similar to that of [18, Proposition 3.4(ii)].

*Proof.* Because  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are isospectral, they have the same volume. In the expression of the asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel given in Equation 2.2, the  $a_k$  depend only on the volume of the orbifold and the curvature of M, so that the  $a_k$  coincide for  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$ . It follows that the second terms in Equation 2.2 must coincide as well, i.e.

$$\sum_{N_1' \in \mathcal{S}(O_1')} (4\pi t)^{-\dim(N_1')/2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_{k,N_1'} t^k = \sum_{N_2' \in \mathcal{S}(O_2')} (4\pi t)^{-\dim(N_2')/2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_{k,N_2'} t^k,$$

where the sums are again over the singular strata of the orbifolds and the  $b_{k,N'_i}$  are the coefficients for the strata of  $O'_i$ . However, as  $b_{0,N'_i} \neq 0$  for each  $N'_i \in \mathcal{S}(O'_i)$ , i = 1, 2, and since the lowest-degree terms must coincide, the claim follows.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 4.6.** By [16, Proposition 3.2], the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of a product orbifold  $O \times O'$ are given by the products of the sectors of O and O'. Clearly, if  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 4.1, then so do  $O \times O_1$  and  $O \times O_2$  for any fixed (quotient) orbifold O. Therefore, by taking the product of the orbifolds in Example 4.4 with an orbifold O that has  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ -sectors that do not appear as  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell-1}$ -sectors, the resulting orbifolds are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for all  $\Gamma$  and have  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ -sectors that do not appear as  $\mathbb{Z}^{\ell-1}$ -sectors.

In the next example, we consider the isospectral deformation of orbifolds found in [26]. We recall that these orbifold were found using the following generalization of the Sunada theorem in [6], recast in the orbifold setting in [26]. We will show that any pair of orbifolds in the deformation are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for any  $\Gamma$ . While we will not be able to prove this using a direct application of Theorem 4.2 because the groups involved are not finite, the philosophy will be the same. We will show that there is a bijection between  $\Gamma$ -sectors such that corresponding sectors are isospectral; we will in fact show that they are isometric.

For a Lie group G with subgroup H, we say that an automorphism  $\Phi: G \to G$ is an *almost-inner automorphism relative to* H if for all  $h \in H$  there is an element  $a \in G$  such that  $\Phi(h) = aha^{-1}$ .

**Theorem 4.7** ([6], [26]). Suppose that G is a Lie group with simply connected, nilpotent identity component  $G_0$ . Let H be a discrete subgroup of G such that  $G = HG_0$  and  $(G_0 \cap H) \setminus G_0$  is compact. Suppose that G acts effectively and properly discontinuously on the left by isometries on (M,g) with  $H \setminus M$  compact. Let  $\Phi: G \to G$  be an almost-inner automorphism relative to H. Then, letting g denote the submersion metric, the quotient orbifolds  $(H \setminus M, g)$  and  $(\Phi(H) \setminus M, g)$  are isospectral.

**Example 4.8.** Let G be the Lie group

$$\{(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, z_1, z_2) \mid x_i, y_i, z_i \in \mathbb{R}\}\$$

with group multiplication given by

$$(x_1, \dots, z_2)(x'_1, \dots, z'_2) = (x_1 + x'_1, \dots, y_2 + y'_2, z_1 + z'_1 + x_1y'_1 + x_2y'_2, z_2 + z'_2 + x_1y'_2).$$

We denote elements of  $\operatorname{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$  by ordered pairs  $(\psi, \bar{x})$ . The group multiplication in  $\operatorname{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$  is given by  $(\psi, \bar{x})(\psi', \bar{x}') = (\psi\psi', \bar{x}\psi(\bar{x}'))$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$  acts on G by  $(\psi, \bar{x}) \cdot \bar{g} = \bar{x}\psi(\bar{g})$ .

Suppose that  $\Lambda$  is the integer lattice in G. Let  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$  be given by the ordered pair  $(\varphi, (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, \frac{1}{2}))$ , where  $\varphi$  is the element of  $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$  given by  $\varphi(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, z_1, z_2) = (x_1, x_2, -y_1, -y_2, -z_1, -z_2)$ . Then

$$\alpha(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, z_1, z_2) = (x_1, x_2, -y_1, -y_2, -z_1, -z_2 + \frac{1}{2}).$$

Define  $H = \Lambda \cup \alpha \Lambda$ .

For  $t \in [0,1)$  define an automorphism  $\Phi_t \colon G \to G$  by

$$\Phi_t(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, z_1, z_2) = (x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, z_1, z_2 + ty_2).$$

From [6],  $\Phi_t$  is an almost-inner automorphism of G relative to  $\Lambda$ . In particular, letting a = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0) if  $y_2 = 0$  and  $(t, -\frac{ty_1}{y_2}, 0, 0, 0, 0)$  otherwise, we see that  $\Phi_t(x) = axa^{-1}$  for any  $x \in G$ . Recalling that  $HG = G \cup \alpha G$ , extend  $\Phi_t$  to an automorphism  $\tilde{\Phi}_t \colon HG \to HG$  by setting  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(x) = \tilde{\Phi}_t(\mathrm{Id}, x) = (\mathrm{Id}, \Phi_t(x))$  and  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha x) = \tilde{\Phi}_t(\varphi, \alpha \cdot x) = (\varphi, \Phi_t(\alpha \cdot x)) = (\varphi, \alpha \cdot \Phi_t(x))$ . Then  $\tilde{\Phi}_t$  is an almost-inner automorphism relative to H; indeed, for h = x or  $\alpha x \in H$ ,  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(h) = (\mathrm{Id}, a)h(\mathrm{Id}, a^{-1})$ where a is based on x as above. Therefore, letting g be an HG-invariant metric on G, by Theorem 4.7, we have a continuous isospectral family of orbifolds,  $(\Phi_t(H) \setminus G, g)$ ,  $t \in [0, 1)$ . By [26], the deformation is nontrivial.

We now show that this deformation is  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for all  $\Gamma$ . We begin by computing the sectors of  $(\tilde{\Phi}_t(H) \setminus G, g)$ . Since  $H = \Lambda \cup \alpha \Lambda$ ,  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(H) = \tilde{\Phi}_t(\Lambda) \cup \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \Lambda)$ . Elements of  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\Lambda)$  are elements of G and thus have empty fixed point sets. Consider  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda)$  where  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . If  $\lambda = (a, b, c, d, e, f)$ , then as an ordered pair in  $\operatorname{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$ ,

$$\Phi_t(\alpha\lambda) = (\varphi, (a, b, -c, -d, -e, -f + \frac{1}{2} - td)).$$

For  $x = (x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2, z_1, z_2) \in G$ , direct computation shows that  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda) \cdot x = x$  if and only if a = b = 0,  $c = -2y_1$ ,  $d = -2y_2$ ,  $e = -2z_1$ , and  $f = -2z_2 + \frac{1}{2} - td$ . In this case, for  $\lambda = (0, 0, c, d, e, f)$  with  $c, d, e, f \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the fixed point set of  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda)$  is

$$G^{\langle \Phi_t(\alpha\lambda) \rangle} = \{ (x_1, x_2, -\frac{c}{2}, -\frac{d}{2}, -\frac{e}{2}, -\frac{f}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{td}{2}) \, | \, x_1, x_2 \in \mathbb{R} \}.$$

We note that if  $\lambda = (0, 0, c, d, e, f)$ , then the order of  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda)$  in  $\operatorname{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$  is 2. Moreover, for  $\lambda \neq \lambda'$ , the fixed point sets of  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda)$  and  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda')$  do not intersect. Therefore, the only nontrivial isotropy groups in  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(H) \backslash G$  are  $\{\operatorname{Id}, \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda)\} \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$ . This implies that if  $\Gamma$  is a group that admits  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  as a homomorphic image, the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(H) \backslash G$  will all be of the form  $C_{\tilde{\Phi}_t(H)}(\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda)) \backslash G^{\langle \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda) \rangle}$ . If  $\Gamma$  does not admit  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  as a homomorphic image,  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(H) \backslash G$  has no nontrivial  $\Gamma$ -sectors.

For  $t \in [0,1)$  and for fixed  $\lambda = (0,0,c,d,e,f)$ , the action of the element  $i = (\mathrm{Id}, (0,0,0,0,0,-\frac{td}{2})) \in \mathrm{Aut}(G) \ltimes G$  maps  $G^{\langle \alpha \lambda \rangle}$  to  $G^{\langle \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda) \rangle}$ . Since  $G^{\langle \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda) \rangle}$  is a totally geodesic submanifold of G, the metric on  $G^{\langle \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda) \rangle}$  is given by the restriction of the metric from G. Since  $i \in G < HG$ , and the metric on G is HG-invariant, i is an isometry from  $G^{\langle \alpha \lambda \rangle}$  to  $G^{\langle \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha \lambda) \rangle}$ .

For  $\lambda = (0, 0, c, d, e, f)$  and  $t \in [0, 1)$ , the centralizer of  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda)$  in  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(H)$  is  $\{(\mathrm{Id}, (p, q, 0, 0, \frac{cp}{2} + \frac{dq}{2}, \frac{dp}{2}))\} \cup \{(\varphi, (p, q, -c, -d, -e - \frac{cp}{2} - \frac{dq}{2}, \frac{1}{2} - f - \frac{dp}{2} - dt))\}$ where  $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$  are such that cp + dq and dp are both even. (Note that  $C_H(\alpha\lambda)$ corresponds to t = 0.) For  $i = (\mathrm{Id}, (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, -\frac{td}{2})$  as above, direct computation shows that  $iC_H(\alpha\lambda)i^{-1} = C_{\tilde{\Phi}_t(H)}(\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda))$ . Since these groups are in fact equal, for any  $t \in [0, 1)$ , the sectors  $C_H(\alpha\lambda) \setminus G^{\langle \alpha \lambda \rangle}$  and  $C_{\tilde{\Phi}_t(H)}(\tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda) \setminus G^{\langle \tilde{\Phi}_t(\alpha\lambda) \rangle}$  are isometric, hence isospectral. Therefore, the collection  $\tilde{\Phi}_t(H) \setminus G$ ,  $t \in [0, 1)$ , is a continuous deformation of orbifolds that are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for all  $\Gamma$ .

For our final example, we construct a pair of 5-dimensional flat orbifolds that are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for all  $\Gamma$ . Here again, since the groups involved are not finite, we will not be able to apply Theorem 4.2 directly but we will use the same idea that underlies the proof of that theorem: after proving that the orbifolds themselves are isospectral using the eigenvalue counting method of Miatello and Rossetti, we will show that there is a bijection between  $\Gamma$ -sectors such that corresponding sectors are isospectral.

**Example 4.9.** Let  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  be a pair of 4-dimensional isospectral nonisometric lattices found in Section 2 of [5]. Orthogonally extend  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  by vectors of the equal length to 5-dimensional isospectral, nonisometric lattices  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  (see [2, p.154]).

Let g be the isometry of  $\mathbb{R}^5$  given by reflection across the copy of  $\mathbb{R}^4$  that contains  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ . For i = 1, 2, let  $G_i$  be the subgroup of  $O(5) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^5$  generated by g and  $\Lambda_i$ . Letting  $T_{\Lambda_i} = \Lambda_i \setminus \mathbb{R}^5$  and  $O_i = G_i \setminus \mathbb{R}^5$ ,  $T_{\Lambda_i}$  covers  $O_i$  and  $O_i \cong \overline{G_i} \setminus T_{\Lambda_1}$  where

 $\overline{G_i} := G_i / \Lambda_i$ . (See [28, p.357].) Letting F denote the projection of  $G_i$  onto O(5), by the first isomorphism theorem,  $F = \{ \mathrm{Id}, g \}$  is isomorphic to  $\overline{G_i}$ . Thus we can identify  $O_i$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \setminus T_{\Lambda_i}$ .

We confirm that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are isospectral using Miatello and Rosetti's eigenvalue counting formula, Theorem 3.1 in [28]. For any eigenvalue  $\mu$ , the multiplicity of  $\mu$  in the spectrum of  $O_i$  is given by

$$d_{\mu}(G_i) = (\#F)^{-1} \sum_{B \in F} e_{\mu,B}(G_i), \text{ where } e_{\mu,B}(G_i) := \sum_{v \in \Lambda_i^*, \|v\|^2 = \mu, Bv = v} e^{2\pi i \langle v, b \rangle}$$

and b is chosen so that  $BL_b \in G_i$ .

It is straightforward to compute  $d_{\mu}(G_i)$ . When B = Id, let b be any element of  $\Lambda_i$ . Since  $\langle v, b \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $v \in \Lambda_i^*$ ,

$$e_{\mu, \mathrm{Id}}(G_i) = \#\{v \in \Lambda_i^* \mid ||v||^2 = \mu\}$$

i.e.  $e_{\mu,\mathrm{Id}}(G_i)$  is the multiplicity of  $\mu$  as an eigenvalue of  $T_{\Lambda_i}$ . Since  $T_{\Lambda_1}$  and  $T_{\Lambda_2}$  are isospectral,  $e_{\mu,\mathrm{Id}}(G_1) = e_{\mu,\mathrm{Id}}(G_2)$ .

When B = g, note that the elements of  $\Lambda_i^*$  that are fixed by B are the elements of  $L_i$ . Thus  $e_{\mu,g}(G_i)$  is equal to the multiplicity of  $\mu$  as an eigenvalue of  $L_i \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$ . Since  $L_1 \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$  and  $L_2 \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$  are isospectral,  $e_{\mu,g}(G_1) = e_{\mu,g}(G_2)$  for all  $\mu$ .

Since  $L_1 \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$  and  $L_2 \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$  are isospectral,  $e_{\mu,g}(G_1) = e_{\mu,g}(G_2)$  for all  $\mu$ . Therefore for any eigenvalue  $\mu$ ,  $d_{\mu}(G_1) = d_{\mu}(G_2)$  so  $G_1 \setminus \mathbb{R}^5$  and  $G_2 \setminus \mathbb{R}^5$  are isospectral orbifolds.

We now confirm that these orbifolds are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral for any  $\Gamma$ . Since for i = 1, 2the lattice  $\Lambda_i$  acts on  $\mathbb{R}^5$  by translation, the only finite subgroups of  $G_i$  are of the form  $\{\mathrm{Id}, (g, (0, 0, 0, 0, e))\} \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$  where  $(0, 0, 0, 0, e) \in \Lambda_i$ . Thus for any finitely generated discrete group  $\Gamma$ , either  $\Gamma$  admits  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  as a homomorphic image or it does not. If it does,  $O_i$  will have a nontrivial  $\Gamma$ -sector for each nontrivial  $\varphi \in \mathrm{HOM}(\Gamma, G_i)$ having image  $\{\mathrm{Id}, (g, (\bar{0}, e))\}$ . Since  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  are extensions of  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  by the same vector in  $\mathbb{R}^5$  which is orthogonal to both  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ , for any homomorphism  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G_1$ , there is an obvious corresponding homomorphism  $\psi \colon \Gamma \to G_2$  that has the same image as  $\varphi$ .

If  $\varphi(\Gamma) = \{ \mathrm{Id}, (g, (\bar{0}, e)) \}$ , then the fixed point set of the image  $\varphi(\Gamma)$  of  $\varphi$  is  $(\mathbb{R}^5)^{\langle \varphi \rangle} = \{ (x, y, z, w, \frac{e}{2}) \mid x, y, z, w \in \mathbb{R} \}$ . The centralizer of  $\varphi(\Gamma)$  in  $G_i$  is  $C_{G_i}(\varphi) = \{ (\mathrm{Id}, (\bar{a}, 0)) \mid \bar{a} \in L_i \} \cup \{ (g, (\bar{a}, e)) \mid \bar{a} \in L_i \}$ . A typical  $\Gamma$ -sector in  $O_i$  is of the form  $C_{G_i}(\varphi) \setminus (\mathbb{R}^5)^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$ .

We note that for i = 1 or 2, all of the  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_i$  are isometric to each other. Indeed if  $\varphi(\Gamma) = \{ \mathrm{Id}, (g, (0, 0, 0, 0, 0)) \}$ , then for any other homomorphism  $\varphi' \colon \Gamma \to G_i$  with image  $\{ \mathrm{Id}, (g, (\bar{0}, e)) \}$ , translation by  $p = (\bar{0}, \frac{e}{2})$  is an isometry from  $(\mathbb{R}^5)^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  to  $(\mathbb{R}^5)^{\langle \varphi' \rangle}$  and  $L_p C_{G_i}(\varphi) L_p^{-1} = C_{G_i}(\varphi')$ . Therefore the sectors  $C_{G_i}(\varphi) \setminus (\mathbb{R}^5)^{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  and  $C_{G_i}(\varphi') \setminus (\mathbb{R}^5)^{\langle \varphi' \rangle}$  are isometric.

Finally, for any choice of  $\Gamma$  that admits  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  as a homomorphic image, the corresponding  $\Gamma$ -sectors of  $O_1$  are  $O_2$  are isospectral as follows. Suppose that  $\varphi \colon \Gamma \to G_1$  has image  $\{\mathrm{Id}, (g, (0, 0, 0, 0, 0))\}$ . The corresponding homomorphism  $\psi \colon \Gamma \to G_2$  has the same image. The images of both  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  also have the same fixed point sets, namely the copy of  $\mathbb{R}^4$  fixed by the action of g on  $\mathbb{R}^5$ . Recalling that  $F = \{\mathrm{Id}, g\}$ , the centralizer of  $\varphi(\Gamma)$  in  $G_1$  is given by  $F \ltimes L_1$  and the centralizer of  $\psi(\Gamma)$  in  $G_2$  is given by  $F \ltimes L_2$ . Since  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are isospectral, by an argument similar to the one given above using Miatello and Rossetti's eigenvalue counting formula,  $(F \ltimes L_1) \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$  is isospectral to  $(F \ltimes L_2) \setminus \mathbb{R}^4$ . Since all other sectors in  $O_i$  for i = 1

or 2 are isometric to these sectors respectively, we conclude that  $O_1$  and  $O_2$  are  $\Gamma$ -isospectral.

### References

- A. Adem, J. Leida, and Y. Ruan, Orbifolds and stringy topology. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 171. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007.
- 2. M. Berger, P. Gauduchon, and E. Mazet, *Le spectre d'une variété riemannienne*. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 194, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1971.
- R. S. Cahn and J. A. Wolf, Zeta functions and their asymptotic expansions for compact symmetric spaces of rank one, Comment. Math. Helv. 51 (1976), no. 1, 1–21.
- Y.-J. Chiang, Spectral geometry of V-manifolds and its application to harmonic maps. Differential geometry: Partial differential equations on manifolds (Los Angeles, CA, 1990). Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 54, pp.93-99. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1993.
- J. H. Conway and N. J. A. Sloane, Four-dimensional lattices with the same theta series. Internat. Math. Res. Notices 1992, no. 4, 93–96
- D. DeTurck and C. Gordon, Isospectral deformations. II. Trace formulas, metrics, and potentials. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 42 (1989), 1067–1095.
- H. Donnelly, Spectrum and the fixed point sets of isometries. I. Math. Ann. 224 (1976), 161–170.
- 8. P. G. Doyle and J. P. Rossetti, Laplace-isospectral hyperbolic 2-orbifolds are representationequivalent, preprint, arXiv:1103.4372 [math.DG]
- E. Dryden, C. Gordon, S. Greenwald, and D. Webb, Asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel for orbifolds. Michigan Math. J. 56 (2008), no. 1, 205–238.
- E. Dryden and A. Strohmaier, Huber's theorem for hyperbolic orbisurfaces. Canadian Mathematical Bulletin, 52 (2009), 66–71.
- W. DuVal, J. Schulte, C. Seaton, and B. Taylor, *Classifying closed 2-orbifolds with Euler characteristics*. Glasg. Math. J. 52 (2010), no. 3, 555–574.
- 12. J. J. Duistermaat and J. A. C. Kolk, Lie groups. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000.
- C. Farsi, Orbifold spectral theory. Rocky Mountain J. Math. **31** (2001), 215–235.
   C. Farsi and C. Seaton, Generalized twisted sectors of orbifolds. Pacific J. Math. **246** (2010),
- 14. C. Falsi and C. Seaton, *Generalized twisted sectors of orbifolds*. 1 actic 3. Math. 240 (2010), no. 1, 49–74.
- C. Farsi and C. Seaton, Nonvanishing vector fields on orbifolds. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 362 (2010), no. 1, 509–535
- C. Farsi and C. Seaton, Generalized orbifold Euler characteristics for general orbifolds and wreath products. Algebr. Geom. Topol. 11 (2011), no. 1, 523–551.
- C. Gordon, Isospectral closed Riemannian manifolds which are not locally isometric. J. Diff. Geom. 37 (1993), 639–649.
- C. Gordon and J. P. Rossetti, Boundary volume and length spectra of Riemannian manifolds: What the middle degree Hodge spectrum doesn't reveal. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 53 (2003), no. 7, 2297–2314.
- A. Ikeda, On lens spaces which are isospectral but not isometric. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 13 (1980), 303–315.
- A. Ikeda, On space forms of real Grassmann manifolds which are isospectral but not isometric. Kodai Math. J. 20 (1997), 1–7.
- R. J. Miatello and J. P. Rossetti, *Flat manifolds isospectral on p-forms*, J. Geom. Anal. 11 (2001), no. 4, 649-667.
- R. J. Miatello and J. P. Rossetti, Comparison of twisted p-form spectra for flat manifolds with different holonomy, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 21 (2002), no, 4, 341-376.
- J. Milnor, Eigenvalues of the Laplace operator on certain manifolds. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 51 (1964), 542.
- I. Polterovich, Combinatorics of the heat trace on spheres, Canad. J. Math. 54 (2002), no. 5, 1086–1099.
- E. Proctor, Orbifold homeomorphism finiteness based on geometric constraints. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 41 (2012), no. 1, 47–59.
- E. Proctor and E. Stanhope, An isospectral deformation of an infranil-orbifold. Canad. Math. Bull. 53 (2010), no. 4, 684–689.

- D. Pronk and L. Scull, Translation groupoids and orbifold cohomology, Canad. J. Math. 62 (2010), no. 3, 514–645.
- J. P. Rossetti, D. Schueth, and M. Weilandt, Isospectral orbifolds with different maximal isotropy orders. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 34 (2008), no. 4, 351–366.
- D. Schueth, Continuous families of isospectral metrics on simply connected manifolds. Ann. of Math. 149 (1999), 287–308.
- N. Shams Ul Bari, Orbifold lens spaces that are isospectral but not isometric. Osaka J. Math. 48 (2011), 1–40.
- N. Shams, E. Stanhope, and D. Webb, One cannot hear orbifold isotropy type. Arch. Math. (Basel) 87 (2006), no. 4, 375–384.
- E. Stanhope and A. Uribe, *The spectral function of a Riemannian orbifold*. Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom. 40 (2011) 447-465.
- T. Sunada, Riemannian covers and isospectral manifolds. Ann. of Math. 121 (1985), no. 1, 169–186.
- C. Sutton, Equivariant isospectrality and Sunada's method. Arch. Math. (Basel) 95 (2010), no. 1, 75–85.
- 35. H. Tamanoi, Generalized orbifold Euler characteristic of symmetric products and equivariant Morava K-theory, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 1 (2001), 115-141.
- H. Tamanoi, Generalized orbifold Euler characteristics of symmetric orbifolds and covering spaces, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 3 (2003), 791-856.
- M.-F. Vignéras, Variétés riemanniennes isospectrales et non isométriques. Ann. of Math. 112 (1980), 21–32.
- 38. M. Weilandt, Isospectral orbifolds with different maximal isotropy orders, Diplom Thesis, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultät II, Institut für Mathematik, 2007.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO AT BOULDER, CAMPUS BOX 395, BOULDER, CO 80309-0395

 $E\text{-}mail\ address: \texttt{farsiQeuclid.colorado.edu}$ 

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, MIDDLEBURY COLLEGE, MIDDLEBURY, VT 05753 *E-mail address:* eproctor@middlebury.edu

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Rhodes College, 2000 N. Parkway, Memphis, TN 38112

E-mail address: seatonc@rhodes.edu